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The Old Johnson. County Courthouse in Warrens burg, Missouri, is a square 

plan, two story brick structure in the Federal style. The building was 

commissioned in 1838, completed in l8<*l, and is in the process of being 

restored to its early form, having been altered since the original con- 

etruction.

EXTERIOR

The exterior brick walls have been covered with stucco which will be 

removed during the current restoration. The foundation is of locally 

quarried limestone. Doorways are centered at the first floor level of 

the north, east, and south walls. Each first floor door is flanked by 

one equidistant window to either side. Three evenly spaced windows 

repeat the same pattern on the second floor. The doorways are round 

arched, and the double doors have 20 raised center panels on both exte 

rior and interior. The janbs and arch heads are also raised paneled. 

A fanlight window is between the doorhead and line of the arch itself 

in the one remaining original (north) door. This doorway arch also has 

an original wooden keystone cap on the interior and evidence of a brick 

keystone cap on the exterior. The south and east doors have not yet 

been restored to this original form. The first floor windows are double 

hung sash with 12 over 12 lights. The second floor windows are 3 over 

8 lights. All of the windows have simple limestone sills and lintels.

The simple roof cornice is a restrained example in the classical tra 

dition. The roof is hippeu and framed to receive a cupola or bell tower 

which was never built. The present roofing material is wood shingle. 

Four rebuilt chimney stacks conforming to the original style, are located 

at each corner of the roof.

INTERIOR 

First Floor

The first floor is one large open room, the west half of which is ele 

vated 1 foot above the balance of the floor. This half contains the 

judge's bench with space for the clerk and witnesses. A column in the 

center of the room is 13' W high and supports the second floor wood 

framing. Fireplace openings are in the northeast and southeast corners 

of the room, which were closed at ona tine and stripped of their mantels. 

These fireplaces are being restored to their original appearance. The 

lower floor level is paved in 8" square brick, while the raised portion 

is of native burr oak. The judge's bench has been recreated using as 

evidence mortise holes in the original joists, and a similar original 

bench at Keytesville, Missouri, still in active use. A stairway in the 

southwest corner has also been reconstructed of handmade solid walr.ut 

with oak treads. Restoration was determined by lines in the original
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plaster and an opening in the second floor which had been boarded 

over. This quarter-turn stairway with landing, gives access to 

the second floor.

Second Floor

The second floor ceiling is 10' 2#" high. This floor is divided 

into one large and two smaller rooms. The greater space served 

the clerk's office while the smaller rooras wore used for grand and 

petty jury activities. Small fireplace openings at each of the 

corners of the walls of this floor have recently been reopened. 

(see photograph) The partition between the grand and petty jury 

rooms was at one tine moved north to make ths rooms of equal size, 

and has not yet been restored to its original position. (The 

floor plan shows the original and projected restored fora.) All 

interior trim is of walnut. The framing and flooring are of 

tongue and groove native, burr oak.

ALTERATIONS

Early in 1867 the interior stair was removed and a new exterior 

stair was erected on the south exterior wall. To provide access 

to the second floor from the second floor stair landing, the 

second floor center window on this exterior wall was changed to 

a doorway with French doors, 10 lights in each frame, and sur 

mounted by a four light transom. While the interior stair has 

been restored, this door remains. After the Civil War, the 

exterior brick walls were stuccoed.

Surviving original material is in good condition and walls and 

framing are sound. Restoration is in progress.

This summary description of the physical appearance of the 

building is based on data included in the field report by archi 

tectural consultant, Kenneth 3. Coombs, A.I.A., June, 1969. The 

report was contracted by the Missouri State Park Board and is 

filed at its central office, P.O. Box 176, 1.20k Jefferson Building, 

Jefferson City, .Missouri 65101.
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The Old Johnson County Courthouse, under design and construction 

1838-1841, has primary significance as one of the few surviving 

second quarter, nineteenth century, Federal style courthouses in 

Missouri. This significance is greatly enhanced by the fact that 

a high proportion of the original material is extant and the build 

ing is being restored. The courthouse has further significance as 

the scene of the sonewhat unusual trial of Burden vs. Hornsby which 

occurred in l869-l8?0.

Numerous early county courthouses in Missouri, along with valuable 

county historical records, were destroyed by fire in the mid to late 

1800"s and were replaced by larger buildings of eclectic revival 

design. Such losses, although lamentable, enhance the value of the 

surviving examples.

The construction site for this building was chosen in 1836 by three 

commissioners, one of v/hoci was Daniel Morgan Boone, son of Daniel 

Boone. Harvey Dyer, who was commissioned to supervise construction 

of the building, presented plans for the courthouse to the county 

court on November 17, 1838. The building specifications called for 

a structure of 44 by 36 feet, two stories, with foundation walls 

three feet thick and 18 inches above the ground, brick walls, four 

fireplaces, three entrance doorways, and glass windows. In January 

3.839 the judges ordered some alterations to the plans and cut the 

overall dimensions of the building to 36 by 36 feet. Additional 

changes were ordered the following July. The estimated cost of the 

building was 32,530, but the actual cost has been determined at 

53,533-33. (Roy H. Stubbs, "Historical Sketch of Johnson County's 

Old Courthouse," 196?.)

The incident which resulted in the Burden vs. Hornsby trials of 

1869-70 occurred when Charles Burden's favorite hound dog, Old 

Drum, was shot by a neighbor, Leonidas Hornsby, who accused the 

dog of sheep killing. Burden sued for damages, but each nan was 

determined to win and the case was appealed several times. The
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case was tried before the Johnson County Court of Common Pleas at 

the Johnson County Courthouse in September, 1870. George Graham 

Vest, (later Senator from Missouri) spoke for Burden and delivered 

his classic speech called "A Tribute to a Dog." He said, "The one 

absolutely unselfish friend that a man can have in this selfish 

world, the one that never deserts him, the one that never proves 

ungrateful or treacherous, is his dog." His speech touched a 

common bond between all dog lovers and the jury awarded Burden 

$25 for damages. (Walter L. Chaney, "The True Story of 'Old 

Drum,'" Missouri Historical Review, 19:319-32<t, January, 1925.)

In 1878, public use of the courthouse was terminated and plans 

were begun for a nev; one. The old building was sold at a sheriff's 

sale in l8?8 to the German Evangelical Church. In later years, 

the building was remodeled and used as a private residence. In 

1965, the Johnson County Historical Society acquired the building 

and is now in the process of restoring it to its original appear 

ance. ("Historic Sites in Johnson County," The Bulletin of 

Johnson County Historical Society, April, 1953", p. 2, col, 1.)
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OLD JOHNSON COUNTY COURT!




